© 2010 Adis Data Information BV. All rights reserved.

# Hyperlipidaemia in Paediatric Patients The Role of Lipid-Lowering Therapy in Clinical Practice

Anthony S. Wierzbicki<sup>1</sup> and Adie Viljoen<sup>2</sup>

- 1 Guy's and St Thomas' Hospitals, London, UK
- 2 Lister Hospital, Stevenage, UK

#### **Contents**

Abst	ract
1.	Cardiovascular High-Risk Groups in Children
2.	Familial Hypertriglyceridaemias
3.	Familial Hypercholesterolaemia
4.	Cardiovascular Disease in Diabetes Mellitus
5.	Cardiovascular Risk in Organ Transplantation
6.	Cardiovascular Risk in Autoimmune Disease
7.	Cardiovascular Risk in HIV Disease
8.	Lifestyle Measures
9.	Efficacy of Drug Therapy
10.	Safety of Drug Therapy
11.	Perspective
12.	Conclusions

#### **Abstract**

Atherosclerosis begins in childhood with the formation of fatty streaks. Early plaques can be found in adolescence and early coronary disease can be found in young adults. It has been suggested that early treatment may lead to great benefits in later life. This article is a narrative review of the role of lipid-lowering drug therapy in paediatric practice.

Increased rates of atherosclerosis are known to occur in children with familial hypercholesterolaemia (FH), especially in homozygotes. There is evidence for the efficacy and safety of lipid-lowering therapies in children, particularly with respect to the effects of HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors (statins) on lipids and, to a limited extent, on other surrogate measures of atherosclerosis in patients with FH. Diagnosis of FH and its early treatment are recommended in all guidelines. Lipid-lowering drug therapy is recommended for the treatment of homozygous FH at all ages and from as young as 10 years of age for the treatment of heterozygous FH when there is a family history of very premature coronary heart disease (occurring at age <40 years).

Controversy exists about other possible indications. Increased rates of atherosclerosis are seen in autoimmune disorders, including type 1 diabetes mellitus, systemic lupus erythematosus and Kawasaki's disease, and in transplant recipients. All evidence in these areas is derived by extrapolation from studies in adults. These disorders can be divided into those for which percutaneous coronary intervention is performed early and/or for which

drugs used to treat the primary disorder increase the rate of atherosclerosis, and those for which this is not the case. In both cardiac transplantation and Kawasaki's disease, increased atherosclerosis can occur as a result of (i) disease-related vasculopathy; or (ii) increased restenosis secondary to interventions. Statins have a good evidence base for reducing rates of re-occlusion following coronary artery procedures, and this justifies their use in these settings. In renal transplantation, statins may have a role to play in patients with persistent dyslipidaemia and additional cardiovascular risk factors. In other disorders, such as type 1 diabetes, the disease process is atherogenic and thus statins may be justified in patients with a long history of disease (>10 years), poor control, and evidence of vascular or endothelial damage or additional cardiovascular risk factors.

There is a role for lipid-lowering therapies in children at high risk of atherosclerosis, but the evidence base outside of FH is weak. Lipid-lowering therapy should be prescribed to all children with homozygous or severe heterozygous FH. Based on adult evidence, statin therapy should be considered in patients who have undergone coronary artery procedures or received cardiac transplants, in whom their primary role is to prevent vascular re-occlusion. In diseases associated with a chronic increased atherogenic risk, such as type 1 diabetes, statins should be considered in high-risk cases where additional cardiovascular risk factors are present.

At present, the most important need is for trials to be performed in children using accepted surrogate endpoints to define whether lipid-lowering drug therapy is beneficial in this group.

The role of lipid-lowering therapy is well established in adults, in whom it is accepted that the presence of established atherosclerotic disease, its risk equivalents such as diabetes mellitus, or a calculated cardiovascular risk of >20% over the next decade are indications for the prescription of anti-atherosclerotic drug therapy.[1,2] However, such considerations are impossible to apply in children and adolescents as the risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD) never exceeds 20% in these groups simply because atherosclerosis is principally driven by age. [3] Thus, any consideration for treatment in children or adolescents relies on relative cardiovascular risk and forward projection of any risk to adulthood. There are established protocols for the investigation and diagnosis of hyperlipidaemia in children.<sup>[4]</sup> The risks of early adult disease are considered significant in a small subgroup of conditions: genetic hyperlipidaemias, immune disorders and organ transplants.<sup>[5]</sup> Although the individual prevalence of these disorders is small, ranging from 1 in 500 to 1 in 1000,

in sum they could add up to approximately 1% of all children/adolescents. As a result of this, the American Academy of Pediatrics has suggested that atherosclerosis modifying therapies should be considered in some circumstances. [5] The basis of these recommendations is that while absolute CVD risk may be low in each case because of low age, as these individuals proceed to adulthood their life expectancy will be grossly shortened by their genetic, autoimmune or acquired diseases and, thus, their absolute CVD risk will rapidly exceed treatment thresholds of >20% per decade in young adulthood if relative risk modifiers act uniformly on background risk factors. The recommendations are also based on the extrapolation of long-term safety and efficacy data, mostly derived from adult populations, to children and adolescents, which is controversial.[6]

This review focuses on the role of antihyperlipidaemic agents in the paediatric setting. However, it should be noted that treatment of atherosclerotic risk, especially in patients with diabetes, is multimodal and may comprise simultaneous prescription of antithrombotics (e.g. aspirin [acetylsalicylic acid]) and antihypertensive drugs (e.g. ACE inhibitors).

### 1. Cardiovascular High-Risk Groups in Children

Atherosclerosis begins in childhood, with fatty streak development being obvious by age 6 years, but there are data to show that the fetus of hypercholesterolaemic mothers may show earlier changes even in utero.<sup>[7]</sup> Postmortem studies such as the PDAY (Pathobiological Determinants of Atherosclerosis in Youth) study show that significant disease is present in adolescents by age 20 years, with 35% of individuals having a 25% coronary artery stenosis by early adulthood.<sup>[8,9]</sup> In the PDAY study, the principal determinants of accelerated progression of atherosclerosis were obesity, smoking, hyperlipidaemia and insulin resistance. Increasing attention is being paid to the role of environmental risk factors in driving the progression of atherosclerosis. Obesity is a recognized problem throughout all age groups; however, rates of childhood obesity are increasing quickly because of changes in lifestyle, cultural precepts and decreased exercise.[10] The greater availability and aggressive marketing of foods with high saturated fat content and increasingly high carbohydrate content, allied with the use of high glycaemic index products and supplementation of processed food stuffs with high fructose corn syrup, are changing lifestyle habits. Many of these food components seem to have addictive features and all are marketed to children. Smoking rates, although reducing in adults, are also increasing in some countries in children and adolescents.[11] Similarly, rates of adrenergic drug abuse, again once confined to the adult population, are increasingly being seen in adolescent populations.[12]

#### 2. Familial Hypertriglyceridaemias

Dyslipidaemia is known to occur in childhood and to be associated with adverse prognosis.<sup>[13,14]</sup> The treatment for type I hyperlipidaemia (familial chylomicronaemia) is well established and the

principal reason for such treatment is to reduce the prevalence of pancreatitis and secondary β-cell failure-induced diabetes.<sup>[15-17]</sup> However, fibrates (fibric acid derivatives), the principal drugs used to treat hypertriglyceridaemia, show little efficacy in type I hyperlipidaemia and physicians must resort to plasmapheresis. Type V hyperlipidaemia is less common in children and there are few studies of lipid-lowering drugs in this population.<sup>[15]</sup> However, given its lesser severity and its age dependency for expression of the phenotype, it is likely that type V hyperlipidaemia would respond to fibrate, omega-3 fatty acid and/or niacin therapy. In familial combined hyperlipidaemia<sup>[18]</sup> or remnant hyperlipidaemias, unequivocal diagnosis of affected individuals is dependent on environmental interactions, making these conditions difficult to diagnose prior to adulthood.[19,20] There is no consensus on whether children with familial combined hyperlipidaemia or remnant hyperlipidaemias should be treated prior to adulthood, even in families where the diagnosis can be established.

#### 3. Familial Hypercholesterolaemia

In contrast to hypertriglyceridaemia, hypercholesterolaemia in children is both well defined and has some evidence base for treatment. Children with familial hypercholesterolaemia (FH) have an earlier onset of endothelial dysfunction, coronary calcification and other markers of atherosclerosis than children with family histories of CVD but without FH.[21-25] Indeed. children with homozygous FH can develop symptomatic coronary heart disease (CHD) prior to teenage life, and some children with severe heterozygous FH develop CHD in their early adult lives.<sup>[26]</sup> The Simon Broome Register collaboration showed that relative risk in individuals with untreated FH was increased 100-fold in men and 200-fold in women aged 20-40 years, and 50% had a CHD event prior to the age of 50 years. [27] After allele dose, the principal determinant of risk in individuals with FH is the age of onset of CVD in the family, not the plasma low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) concentration. [26] Treatment of

adult heterozygous FH reduces mortality by 80%, [28] while studies of individuals with homozygous FH show that a mixture of maximal drug therapy allied to apheresis can reduce coronary artery disease progression.<sup>[29]</sup> There is evidence supporting the use of lipid-lowering drugs in children with FH, based on both lipid and surrogate endpoints (see section 9). Thus, many guidelines recommend that children of families with a history of FH be screened for diagnostic purposes between the ages of 6 and 10 years and that treatment with lipid-lowering drugs is started in the highest risk individuals.[1,2,30,31] The latter category is usually stated as comprising children with homozygous FH and children from families in which the age of onset of CHD is <40 years, although many clinicians are more conservative with respect to the latter group and treat if the age of onset of CHD is <30 years in affected men and <40 years in affected women.[32]

### 4. Cardiovascular Disease in Diabetes Mellitus

Although treatment of genetic hyperlipidaemias in childhood is well established, CVD risk is also increased in other patient groups. Type 1 diabetes has an age of onset of 5-15 years and is driven by autoimmune destruction of pancreatic β cells. The disorder is increasing in prevalence for reasons that remain unclear. Type 1 diabetes is associated with a number of factors that drive progression of atherosclerosis, including impaired renal function, hypertension, dysglycaemia, inflammation and autoimmunity. [33,34] Many studies have shown increased carotid intima media thickness in children with type 1 diabetes and a small but significant incidence of early-onset CHD.[33] Based on data from adults, it is estimated that the risk of CVD is increased by 10- to 40-fold in individuals with type 1 diabetes.[35,36] Although the risk of CVD is increased, there are no trials of the effects of statins or other lipid-lowering drugs on surrogate or clinical endpoints in type 1 diabetes. Data from epidemiological studies suggest that the risk of CVD in type 1 diabetes is driven more by poor glycaemic control, hypertension and nephropathy than by lipids.<sup>[37]</sup> Thus, the role of statin therapy is secondary and may be limited to patients with a young age of onset of disease, more than 10 years' duration of disease, poor control and evidence of target organ damage or additional cardiovascular risk factors (e.g. smoking). Fibrates may have additional beneficial effects on microvascular disease<sup>[38]</sup> but there are no data as yet to support their use in childhood diabetes.

The world epidemic of obesity is not only further driving the rate of progression of type 1 diabetes but is also leading to the earlier diagnosis of type 2 diabetes. Cases of type 2 diabetes used to be rare in childhood and were often associated with the presence of genetic mutations associated with the development of maturity-onset diabetes of the young. [39] These days, cases of diabetes simply associated with environmental and familial risk factors allied with gross obesity are routinely seen in subjects aged 10-20 years. The evidence base for treatment of lipids in adults with type 2 diabetes is extensive but is limited by trial recruitment criteria of age >40 years and a >5-year (usually 10-year) history of diabetes; these make for difficulties extrapolating the data to children. However, such trials show convincing benefits for statin therapy<sup>[40]</sup> and a possible role for fibrates based on effects on a secondary endpoint.<sup>[41]</sup> Obesity is associated with a greater severity of renal failure, and, if significant proteinuria is present, renal disease is associated with accelerated rates of atherosclerotic disease; however, there are suggestions that fibrates may reduce rates of microvascular disease.[41] There may be a role for statins in the treatment of rare individuals with young-onset type 2 diabetes prior to adulthood.

## 5. Cardiovascular Risk in Organ Transplantation

The American Academy of Pediatrics guidelines<sup>[5]</sup> recommend early treatment of hyperlipidaemia after organ transplantation in all age groups. Increased cardiovascular risks are often seen after renal and cardiac transplantation, even in children.<sup>[42-44]</sup> Moderate-dose statins reduce coronary artery transplant vasculopathy in patients with cardiac transplants<sup>[45]</sup> and are safe in children. [46] Both transplantation and its treatment with ciclosporin (cyclosporine), more than other immunosuppressants, are associated with increased rates of transplant vasculopathy and atherosclerosis. [47] Additional risks are found with the use of prednisolone, which causes mixed hyperlipidaemia and is diabetogenic. Statins have been shown to reduce atherosclerosis after cardiac transplantation in adults, but the effects following renal transplantation are less clear. [48,49] Recently, in the AURORA (A study to evaluate the Use of Rosuvastatin in subjects On Regular haemodialysis: an Assessment of survival and cardiovascular events) study of patients with chronic renal failure, rosuvastatin had no effect on cardiovascular endpoints, [50] while earlier data from the 4D (Die Deutsche Diabetes Dialyse) study in patients with diabetes on dialysis had shown minimal benefits with atorvastatin.<sup>[51]</sup> However, both these studies excluded patients with renal transplants, demonstrating only that statins had little cardiovascular benefit in patients with well established, end-stage renal disease. Studies in renal transplant populations are far more limited and are open to criticism on the grounds that they used a low efficacy, weak statin. In the SOLAR (Study Of Lescol in Acute Rejection) trial, fluvastatin had no effect on rejection events.<sup>[52]</sup> while in the ALERT (Assessment of LEscol in Renal Transplantation) study of patients with renal transplants, a 35% reduction in cardiovascular events was seen.<sup>[53,54]</sup> The SHARP (Study of Heart And Renal Protection) study of adult renal impairment associated with use of a combination of simvastatin and ezetimibe includes a subgroup of renal transplant patients, [55] but given the results of other studies in established renal disease and the controversial results with simvastatin/ezetimibe therapy in aortic stenosis, [56,57] this study, when completed, may not clarify the role of lipid lowering in this group.

Thus, current data suggest that statin therapy has a role in cardiac transplantation because transplant vasculopathy leads directly to coronary atherosclerosis in this condition. The data in renal transplantation are less clear and statins should remain a second-line therapy for those with persistent hyperlipidaemia, recurrent rejection episodes and in whom corticosteroid-minimization and/or switch of immunosuppressants to agents that cause less dyslipidemia are not possible.<sup>[58]</sup>

### 6. Cardiovascular Risk in Autoimmune Disease

An additional population at high cardiovascular risk is patients with autoimmune diseases. Increased risks are seen in patients with psoriasis and ankylosing spondylitis, and the risks are even greater in patients with rheumatoid arthritis or, in particular, systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), where the risk is increased 8- to 16fold.<sup>[59,60]</sup> Autoimmune diseases are generally rare in childhood with the exception of diabetes and Kawasaki's disease. The onset of Kawasaki's disease is in the teenage years and the disorder is associated with dyslipidaemia and other cardiovascular risk factors that persist after statin therapy. [61,62] Kawasaki's disease is also associated with development of aneurysms and thus an increased risk of atheroembolic events. There is no evidence that lipid-lowering drugs have any effect on aneurysmal disease. One small study has shown a reduction in the rate of aortic aneurysm growth in the elderly, [63] but there are no endpoint studies of statins in patients with this condition. In children, one study has shown improvement in inflammatory markers and endothelial function in Kawasaki's disease after statin therapy.<sup>[62]</sup> Lipid-lowering therapy is recommended by the American Academy of Pediatrics<sup>[5]</sup> on the basis of lack of early immunoglobulin therapy, early age of onset of disease, and severity and location of aneurysms. The nearest analogues to the generalized aneurysmal disease of Kawasaki's disease are the localized thrombosis in the atrial appendage and with mural thrombosis in atrial fibrillation and the aneurysm-related thrombosis seen in late stage peripheral arterial disease. There are no specific large-scale studies of lipid-lowering in atrial fibrillation but some smaller-scale studies and registries suggest a reduction in cardiovascular events.[64,65] The case for statin treatment in

peripheral arterial disease is well established but may apply more to occlusive lesions than aneurysmal disease. Studies in aortic aneurysmal disease are few and not conclusive. [66] However, studies of antithrombotic drugs, including aspirin (acetylsalicylic acid), warfarin and, lately, the combination of aspirin and clopidogrel, suggest that these strategies may have greater benefits in atherothrombotic disease than previously supposed and merit further investigation. [67]

#### 7. Cardiovascular Risk in HIV Disease

Children with HIV infection have increased rates of atherosclerosis due to both the primary viral infection but also secondary to the dyslipidaemic and lipodystrophic changes associated with the therapies used to treat this condition. [68-70] There are no data on how cardiovascular risk in these populations should be addressed beyond control of the infectious disease and its associated inflammation, together with general lifestyle measures.

#### 8. Lifestyle Measures

Few large-scale, randomized controlled trial data exist specifically on the efficacy of lifestyle measures in children/adolescents with familial hyperlipidaemias beyond general consensus interventions, such as prevention of initiation of smoking and avoidance of gross obesity.[14,71] Lifestyle therapies are more effective for the treatment of obesity than for other cardiovascular high-risk conditions, and small-scale studies show benefits from both exercise and calorie reduction.[14,72] Diets have relatively little effect on cholesterol.<sup>[72,73]</sup> They are used as general recommendations in FH and immunological conditions but are considered adjunctive therapies with limited potential to modify disease progression in the short term.<sup>[14]</sup> Their limited utility in polygenic hyperlipidaemia in children is based on the limited progression of disease at young ages as cholesterol levels are moderately elevated in childhood and increase to adult levels in puberty only in response to testosterone production. Risks are thus increased more in male children

than in females and only from puberty. However, epidemiological studies suggest that small changes in cholesterol made earlier in life can translate into large changes in lifetime risk, and dietary therapy may therefore be sufficient in all except the most extreme risk groups.<sup>[74]</sup> The role of supplements<sup>[75]</sup> and nutriceuticals such as phytosterols in children is also unclear, although small-scale studies suggest some beneficial effects on lipids similar to those seen in adults.<sup>[76,77]</sup>

#### 9. Efficacy of Drug Therapy

The vast majority of therapeutic trials have targeted surrogate measures, particularly lipid levels.[14] There are no outcome studies in this area of paediatrics. The longest established therapies, used originally on the basis of anecdotal evidence, are the bile acid sequestrants. Their efficacy in children is similar to that in adults and it is stated that their tolerability is also similar to that in adults, with a 20-30% discontinuation rate.<sup>[78]</sup> However, there are no studies documenting the rate of intolerance of bile acid sequestrants in actual clinical practice, and experience suggests that the actual rate of non-adherence in all age groups is considerably higher. Fibrates have been used extensively in children and adolescents over the years and again show similar efficacy to adults, with better tolerability than bile acid sequestrants but lesser efficacy in reducing LDL-C levels.<sup>[76,79]</sup> Niacin has also previously been used extensively in adolescents and has similar lipid-lowering efficacy to bile acid sequestrants and fibrates.<sup>[80]</sup> However, these drugs (i.e. bile acid sequestrants, fibrates and niacin) are now little used with the possible exception of the new bile acid sequestrant colesevelam, the efficacy of which in adolescents has never been formally assessed, but which does have a better tolerability profile in adults than earlier bile acid sequestrants.<sup>[81]</sup> Ezetimibe has been shown to reduce LDL-C levels by 20% in children with homozygous FH.[82]

The preferred drugs for treating hyperlipidaemia in adolescents are statins. After many years of use in adults following anecdotal reports and later in response to changes in patent extension following specific studies in adolescents, statins have been used in approximately 1000 children and adolescents with heterozygous FH for periods of up to 2 years. [83,84] Initial studies showed that the efficacy of these drugs in 12- to 16-yearolds was similar to that in adults.[85-89] Extensive data exist for lovastatin<sup>[85]</sup> and simvastatin<sup>[86]</sup> in 2-year studies, for atorvastatin over 6 months<sup>[87]</sup> and, most recently, for low to moderate doses of rosuvastatin for up to 1 year in the PLUTO (Paediatric Lipid redUction Trial of rOsuvastatin) study.[88] Additional evidence for the beneficial effects of statins in children with FH was demonstrated when pravastatin reduced the rate of progression of carotid intima media thickness in 193 children over 2 years. [89] Statins are less efficacious in homozygous FH as they are dependent on the presence of functional hepatic LDL receptors for their action.<sup>[90]</sup> Statins are effective in only 30% of patients with homozygous FH, and their efficacy is generally reduced by 30-50%. Thus, increased emphasis is placed on the use of intestinally acting agents such as bile acid sequestrants and ezetimibe in patients with homozygous FH.<sup>[26]</sup> In contrast to colestyramine, which binds ezetimibe, the combination of ezetimibe and colesevelam is additive[91] and can be used effectively in homozygous FH, usually in combination with apheresis until the definitive treatment of hepatic transplantation can be performed.

#### 10. Safety of Drug Therapy

The safety profile of lipid-lowering therapy is well established in adults. Adverse effect frequencies range from 20–30% for colestyramine to about 2–3% for statins or ezetimibe. Fewer data exist in children. In studies involving approximately 1000 children and adolescents aged 10–18 years receiving statins at lower doses for a period of 6 months to 2 years, no adverse effects or significant increases in hepatic transaminase or creatine kinase levels were seen. [83,84] Similarly, specific studies of effects on sex steroids and Tanner development stage progression in children and adolescents receiving statins revealed no significant differences over a 2-year period. [83,84]

Studies of bile acid sequestrants, fibrates, niacin and ezetimibe show similar safety profiles to those in adults but are generally smaller in scale and of shorter duration and have been conducted in patients with either heterozygous or homozygous FH. All these studies are short term; similar to other drug classes, there is a lack of long-term, systematically collected safety data for all lipid-lowering drugs in paediatric practice.

#### 11. Perspective

The increasing burden of cardiovascular risk factors associated with atherosclerosis in adolescence and the explosion in the obesity rate has led to an increased focus on early treatment, particularly as even limited interventions at younger ages can translate into large reductions in lifetime CVD risk.<sup>[5]</sup> This is especially relevant as the prevalence of type 2 diabetes in younger populations increases. Similarly, as screening becomes established for FH, affected individuals are being regularly identified at younger ages and consideration must be given as to how to treat these individuals.[30,31] While there is no debate about the need, prior to definitive treatment by liver transplantation, for lipid-lowering treatment in homozygous FH given its extremely poor prognosis, there is still debate as to how cases of heterozygous FH ought to be treated.[14] A case can be made for treatment of those patients with a severe family history of CVD but controversy exists about more typical cases.[14] Many favour dietetic measures until adulthood when statin therapy is instituted, while others suggest earlier drug treatment to prevent atherosclerosis becoming established. There are some efficacy and safety data for lipid-lowering drugs in this group of patients. Additional indications are suggested for patients with autoimmune-related disorders (e.g. type 1 diabetes, SLE), in whom rates of CVD are increased by the underlying condition, the variation in immune function and some of the drugs used as immunosuppressants. The evidence for lipid-lowering therapy in patients with these disorders is limited (where available), based on adult studies and dependent on the known accelerated rates of atherosclerosis in autoimmune

disease. Lipid-lowering drugs may attenuate transplant vasculopathy and may also decrease the high rates of cardiovascular events in these patients. In both these groups, the relative risks of CVD are greatly increased, and lipid-lowering therapy is consequently used for preventive purposes. However, it could be argued that more stable and effective lipid-neutral immunosuppressant regimens could substantially reduce rates of atherosclerosis<sup>[92]</sup> by directly targeting the inflammatory process, as has been demonstrated on a limited scale with statins in rheumatoid arthritis, [93] and that formal endpoint studies of statins are required prior to therapy becoming common practice. Similarly, in inflammatory atherothrombotic disease for which there is little evidence for the benefits of lipidlowering therapy, immunomodulatory and antithrombotic therapies may be more effective.

Rates of prescribing in children in the US are increasing by 15% per year and prescriptions for hypoglycaemic and antihypertensive drugs are increasing, as could be predicted from the known benefits of these agents on microvascular complications, which precede macrovascular complications. [94] In contrast, rates of prescribing of lipid-lowering agents are stable or decreasing because of the greater controversy over how to use these agents, the exact risks of atherosclerotic macrovascular disease in children and the rate at which it may progress.<sup>[6]</sup> The perils of extrapolating evidence from epidemiological studies or subgroup analyses are well known. For example, statins have been unsuccessful in formal endpoint clinical trials in aortic stenosis, advanced cardiac failure or renal disease despite early indications of potential benefit. Thus, only well constructed surrogate endpoint studies in paediatric populations will finally clarify the conditions under which lipid-lowering agents will be beneficial.

#### 12. Conclusions

There is a role for lipid-lowering therapies in children at high risk of atherosclerosis, but the evidence base outside of FH is weak. Lipid-lowering therapy should be prescribed to all children with homozygous or severe heterozygous FH. Based on adult evidence, statin therapy should be considered in patients who have undergone coronary artery procedures or received cardiac transplants, in whom their primary role is to prevent vascular re-occlusion. In renal transplant patients, statins may have a role to play in patients with persistent dyslipidaemia, in whom additional risk factors for transplant-associated atherosclerosis are present. In diseases associated with a chronic increased atherogenic risk, such as type 1 diabetes or SLE, statins should be considered in high-risk cases where additional cardiovascular risk factors are present. At present, the most important need is for trials to be conducted in children using accepted surrogate endpoints to define whether lipid-lowering drug therapy is as beneficial in these groups as in adults.

#### **Acknowledgements**

No sources of funding were used to assist in the preparation of this review. Dr Wierzbicki has acted as a consultant to Abbott, Fournier-Solvay, Genzyme, Merck, Merck-Schering Plough, GlaxoSmithKline, Gilead, AstraZeneca, Lifecycle Pharma, Amsterdam Molecular Therapeutics and Roche; has received honoraria from Abbott, Fournier-Solvay, Genzyme, Merck, Merck-Schering Plough, Novartis, Pfizer, Glaxo-SmithKline, Gilead and AstraZeneca; and has received grants or has grants pending from Merck-Schering Plough and AstraZeneca. Dr Wierzbicki was also a member of the technology appraisal committee for ezetimibe and the familial hypercholesterolaemia guideline development group at the National Institute of Health and Clinical Excellence. Dr Viljoen has received lecturing honoraria from Pfizer, AstraZeneca, Takeda, Sanofi-aventis, Merck Sharp & Dohme, Schering Plough, Abbott and Fournier-Solvay.

#### References

- Expert Panel on Detection Evaluation and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol In Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). Executive summary of the third report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP). JAMA 2001 May 16; 285 (19): 2486-97
- Graham I, Atar D, Borch-Johnsen K, et al. European guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice: executive summary. Atherosclerosis 2007 Sep; 194 (1): 1-45
- Cavanaugh-Hussey MW, Berry JD, Lloyd-Jones DM. Who exceeds ATP-III risk thresholds? Systematic examination of the effect of varying age and risk factor levels in the ATP-III risk assessment tool. Prev Med 2008 Dec; 47 (6): 619-23

- Kwiterovich P. Clinical and laboratory assessment of cardiovascular risk in children: guidelines for screening, evaluation, and treatment. J Clin Lipidol 2008; 2 (2): 248-66
- 5. Kavey RE, Allada V, Daniels SR, et al. Cardiovascular risk reduction in high-risk pediatric patients: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Expert Panel on Population and Prevention Science; the Councils on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young, Epidemiology and Prevention, Nutrition, Physical Activity and Metabolism, High Blood Pressure Research, Cardiovascular Nursing, and the Kidney in Heart Disease; and the Interdisciplinary Working Group on Quality of Care and Outcomes Research. Endorsed by the American Academy of Pediatrics. Circulation 2006 Dec 12; 114 (24): 2710-38
- de Ferranti S, Ludwig DS. Storm over statins: the controversy surrounding pharmacologic treatment of children. N Engl J Med 2008 Sep 25; 359 (13): 1309-12
- Napoli C, D'Armiento FP, Mancini FP, et al. Fatty streak formation occurs in human fetal aortas and is greatly enhanced by maternal hypercholesterolemia: intimal accumulation of low density lipoprotein and its oxidation precede monocyte recruitment into early atherosclerotic lesions. J Clin Invest 1997 Dec 1; 100 (11): 2680-90
- Pathobiological Determinants of Atherosclerosis in Youth (PDAY) Research Group. Relationship of atherosclerosis in young men to serum lipoprotein cholesterol concentrations and smoking: a preliminary report from the Pathobiological Determinants of Atherosclerosis in Youth (PDAY) Research Group. JAMA 1990 Dec 19; 264 (23): 3018-24
- McGill Jr HC, McMahan CA. Determinants of atherosclerosis in the young. Pathobiological Determinants of Atherosclerosis in Youth (PDAY) Research Group. Am J Cardiol 1998 Nov 26; 82 (10B): 30-6T
- Imamura H, Izawa A, Kai R, et al. Trends over the last 20 years in the clinical background of young Japanese patients with coronary artery disease. Circ J 2004 Mar; 68 (3): 186-91
- Hubler A, de Bacquer D, Valimaa R, et al. Smoking trends among adolescents from 1990 to 2002 in ten European countries and Canada. BMC Public Health 2006 Nov 10; 6: 280
- Sloboda Z. Changing patterns of "drug abuse" in the United States: connecting findings from macro- and microepidemiologic studies. Subst Use Misuse 2002 Jun-Aug; 37 (8-10): 1229-51
- Kwiterovich PO. Primary and secondary disorders of lipid metabolism in pediatrics. Pediatr Endocrinol Rev 2008 Feb; 5 Suppl. 2: 727-38
- 14. McCrindle BW, Urbina EM, Dennison BA, et al. Drug therapy of high-risk lipid abnormalities in children and adolescents: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Atherosclerosis, Hypertension, and Obesity in Youth Committee, Council of Cardiovascular Disease in the Young, with the Council on Cardiovascular Nursing. Circulation 2007 Apr 10; 115 (14): 1948-67
- Brunzell JD. Clinical practice. Hypertriglyceridemia. N Engl J Med 2007 Sep 6; 357 (10): 1009-17
- Brunzell JD, Iverius PH, Scheibel MS, et al. Primary lipoprotein lipase deficiency. Adv Exp Med Biol 1986; 201: 227-39

- Fojo SS, Brewer HB. Hypertriglyceridaemia due to genetic defects in lipoprotein lipase and apolipoprotein C-II. J Intern Med 1992 Jun; 231 (6): 669-77
- Wierzbicki AS, Graham CA, Young IS, et al. Familial combined hyperlipidaemia: under-defined and underdiagnosed? Curr Vasc Pharmacol 2008 Jan; 6 (1): 13-22
- Cortner JA, Coates PM, Liacouras CA, et al. Familial combined hyperlipidemia in children: clinical expression, metabolic defects, and management. J Pediatr 1993 Aug; 123 (2): 177-84
- Shamir R, Tershakovec AM, Gallagher PR, et al. The influence of age and relative weight on the presentation of familial combined hyperlipidemia in childhood. Atherosclerosis 1996 Mar; 121 (1): 85-91
- Campagna F, Martino F, Bifolco M, et al. Detection of familial hypercholesterolemia in a cohort of children with hypercholesterolemia: results of a family and DNA-based screening. Atherosclerosis 2008 Jan; 196 (1): 356-64
- Wray R, Neil H, Rees J. Screening for hyperlipidaemia in childhood: recommendations of the British Hyperlipidaemia Association. J R Coll Physicians Lond 1996 Mar; 30 (2): 115-8
- de Jongh S, Lilien MR, Bakker HD, et al. Family history of cardiovascular events and endothelial dysfunction in children with familial hypercholesterolemia. Atherosclerosis 2002 Jul; 163 (1): 193-7
- Iughetti L, Predieri B, Balli F, et al. Rational approach to the treatment for heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia in childhood and adolescence: a review. J Endocrinol Invest 2007 Sep; 30 (8): 700-19
- Marks D, Thorogood M, Neil HA, et al. A review on the diagnosis, natural history, and treatment of familial hypercholesterolaemia. Atherosclerosis 2003 May; 168 (1): 1-14
- Marais AD, Firth JC, Blom DJ. Homozygous familial hypercholesterolemia and its management. Semin Vasc Med 2004 Feb; 4 (1): 43-50
- Scientific Steering Committee, on behalf of the Simon Broome Register Group. Risk of fatal coronary heart disease in familial hypercholesterolaemia. BMJ 1991 Oct 12; 303 (6807): 893-6
- Versmissen J, Oosterveer DM, Yazdanpanah M, et al. Efficacy of statins in familial hypercholesterolaemia: a long term cohort study. BMJ 2008; 337: a2423
- Kroon AA, Aengevaeren WR, van der Werf T, et al. Effect of aggressive versus conventional lipid lowering treatment on coronary atherosclerosis. LDL-Apheresis Atherosclerosis Regression Study (LAARS). Circulation 1996 May 15; 93 (10): 1826-35
- National Institute of Health and Clinical Excellence. Identification and management of familial hypercholesterolaemia. London: National Institute of Health and Clinical Excellence, 2008 Sep
- Wierzbicki AS, Humphries SE, Minhas R. Familial hypercholesterolaemia: summary of NICE guidance. BMJ 2008; 337: a1095
- Greene O, Durrington P. Clinical management of children and young adults with heterozygous familial hypercholesterolaemia in the UK. J R Soc Med 2004 May; 97 (5): 226-9

 Krantz JS, Mack WJ, Hodis HN, et al. Early onset of subclinical atherosclerosis in young persons with type 1 diabetes. J Pediatr 2004 Oct; 145 (4): 452-7

- Maahs DM, Wadwa RP, McFann K, et al. Longitudinal lipid screening and use of lipid-lowering medications in pediatric type 1 diabetes. J Pediatr 2007 Feb; 150 (2): 146-50
- 35. Laing SP, Swerdlow AJ, Slater SD, et al. Mortality from heart disease in a cohort of 23 000 patients with insulintreated diabetes. Diabetologia 2003 Jun; 46 (6): 760-5
- Libby P, Nathan DM, Abraham K, et al. Report of the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute-National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases Working Group on Cardiovascular Complications of Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus. Circulation 2005 Jun 28; 111 (25): 3489-93
- Nathan DM, Lachin J, Cleary P, et al. Intensive diabetes therapy and carotid intima-media thickness in type 1 diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med 2003 Jun 5; 348 (23): 2294-303
- Keech AC, Mitchell P, Summanen PA, et al. Effect of fenofibrate on the need for laser treatment for diabetic retinopathy (FIELD study): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2007 Nov 17; 370 (9600): 1687-97
- Fagot-Campagna A, Pettitt DJ, Engelgau MM, et al. Type 2 diabetes among North American children and adolescents: an epidemiologic review and a public health perspective. J Pediatr 2000 May; 136 (5): 664-72
- Kearney PM, Blackwell L, Collins R, et al. Efficacy of cholesterol-lowering therapy in 18,686 people with diabetes in 14 randomised trials of statins: a meta-analysis. Lancet 2008 Jan 12; 371 (9607): 117-25
- 41. Keech A, Simes RJ, Barter P, et al. Effects of long-term fenofibrate therapy on cardiovascular events in 9795 people with type 2 diabetes mellitus (the FIELD study): randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2005 Nov 26; 366 (9500): 1849-61
- 42. Uzark K, Crowley D, Callow L, et al. Hypercholesterolemia after cardiac transplantation in children. Am J Cardiol 1990 Dec 1; 66 (19): 1385-7
- 43. Young JB. Perspectives on cardiac allograft vasculopathy. Curr Atheroscler Rep 2000 May; 2 (3): 259-71
- Wanner C, Quaschning T, Weingarnter K. Impact of dyslipidaemia in renal transplant recipients. Curr Opin Urol 2000 Mar; 10 (2): 77-80
- Kobashigawa JA, Katznelson S, Laks H, et al. Effect of pravastatin on outcomes after cardiac transplantation. N Engl J Med 1995 Sep 7; 333 (10): 621-7
- 46. Penson MG, Fricker FJ, Thompson JR, et al. Safety and efficacy of pravastatin therapy for the prevention of hyperlipidemia in pediatric and adolescent cardiac transplant recipients. J Heart Lung Transplant 2001 Jun; 20 (6): 611-8
- 47. Vassalli G, Gallino A, Weis M et al. Alloimmunity and nonimmunologic risk factors in cardiac allograft vasculopathy. Eur Heart J 2003 Jul; 24 (13): 1180-8
- Gazi IF, Liberopoulos EN, Athyros VG, et al. Statins and solid organ transplantation. Curr Pharm Des 2006; 12 (36): 4771-83
- Kobashigawa JA. Statins in solid organ transplantation: is there an immunosuppressive effect? Am J Transplant 2004 Jul; 4 (7): 1013-8

- Fellstrom B, Holdaas H, Jardine AG, et al. Effect of rosuvastatin on outcomes in chronic haemodialysis patients: baseline data from the AURORA study. Kidney Blood Press Res 2007; 30 (5): 314-22
- Wanner C, Krane V, Marz W, et al. Atorvastatin in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus undergoing hemodialysis. N Engl J Med 2005 Jul 21; 353 (3): 238-48
- Holdaas H, Jardine AG, Wheeler DC, et al. Effect of fluvastatin on acute renal allograft rejection: a randomized multicenter trial. Kidney Int 2001 Nov; 60 (5): 1990-7
- Fellstrom B, Holdaas H, Jardine AG, et al. Effect of fluvastatin on renal end points in the Assessment of Lescol in Renal Transplant (ALERT) trial. Kidney Int 2004 Oct; 66 (4): 1549-55
- 54. Jardine AG, Holdaas H, Fellstrom B, et al. Fluvastatin prevents cardiac death and myocardial infarction in renal transplant recipients: post-hoc subgroup analyses of the ALERT Study. Am J Transplant 2004 Jun; 4 (6): 988-95
- Baigent C, Landry M. Study of Heart and Renal Protection (SHARP). Kidney Int Suppl 2003 May; (84): S207-10
- Wierzbicki AS. Muddy waters: more stormy SEAS for ezetimibe. Int J Clin Pract 2008 Oct; 62 (10): 1470-3
- Rossebo AB, Pedersen TR, Boman K, et al. Intensive lipid lowering with simvastatin and ezetimibe in aortic stenosis. N Engl J Med 2008 Sep 25; 359 (13): 1343-56
- Kiberd B, Panik R. Cardiovascular outcomes in the outpatient kidney transplant clinic: the Framingham risk score revisited. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2008 May; 3 (3): 822-8
- Matsuura E, Kobayashi K, Lopez LR. Atherosclerosis in autoimmune diseases. Curr Rheumatol Rep 2009 Feb; 11 (1): 61-9
- Turesson C, Jacobsson LT, Matteson EL. Cardiovascular co-morbidity in rheumatic diseases. Vasc Health Risk Manag 2008; 4 (3): 605-14
- Cheung YF, Yung TC, Tam SC, et al. Novel and traditional cardiovascular risk factors in children after Kawasaki disease: implications for premature atherosclerosis. J Am Coll Cardiol 2004 Jan 7; 43 (1): 120-4
- Huang SM, Weng KP, Chang JS, et al. Effects of statin therapy in children complicated with coronary arterial abnormality late after Kawasaki disease: a pilot study. Circ J 2008 Oct; 72 (10): 1583-7
- Schouten O, van Laanen JH, Boersma E, et al. Statins are associated with a reduced infrarenal abdominal aortic aneurysm growth. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2006 Jul; 32 (1): 21-6
- 64. Liu T, Li L, Korantzopoulos P, et al. Statin use and development of atrial fibrillation: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials and observational studies. Int J Cardiol 2008 May 23; 126 (2): 160-70
- Sanchez-Quinones J, Marin F, Roldan V, et al. The impact of statin use on atrial fibrillation. QJM 2008 Nov; 101 (11): 845-61
- Miyake T, Morishita R. Pharmacological treatment of abdominal aortic aneurysm. Cardiovasc Res 2009; 83 (3): 436-43
- 67. Atrial Fibrillation Clopidogrel Trial with Irbesartan for Prevention of Vascular Events (ACTIVE) investigators. Effect of clopidogrel added to aspirin in patients with atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2009 May 14; 360: 2066-78

- Kulasegaram R, Peters BS, Wierzbicki AS. Dyslipidaemia and cardiovascular risk in HIV infection. Curr Med Res Opin 2005 Nov; 21 (11): 1717-25
- Wierzbicki AS, Purdon SD, Hardman TC, et al. HIV lipodystrophy and its metabolic consequences: implications for clinical practice. Curr Med Res Opin 2008 Mar; 24 (3): 609-24
- Miller TL, Orav EJ, Lipshultz SE, et al. Risk factors for cardiovascular disease in children infected with human immunodeficiency virus-1. J Pediatr 2008 Oct; 153 (4): 491-7
- Hegele RA. Environmental modulation of atherosclerosis end points in familial hypercholesterolemia. Atheroscler Suppl 2002 Mar; 2 (3): 5-7
- Newman TB, Hulley SB. Reducing dietary intake of fat and cholesterol in children. JAMA 1995 Nov 8; 274 (18): 1424-5
- Newman TB, Garber AM, Holtzman NA, et al. Problems with the report of the expert panel on blood cholesterol levels in children and adolescents. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 1995 Mar; 149 (3): 241-7
- Law MR, Wald NJ, Thompson SG. By how much and how quickly does reduction in serum cholesterol concentration lower risk of ischaemic heart disease? BMJ 1994 Feb 5; 308 (6925): 367-72
- Weghuber D, Widhalm K. Effect of 3-month treatment of children and adolescents with familial and polygenic hypercholesterolaemia with a soya-substituted diet. Br J Nutr 2008 Feb; 99 (2): 281-6
- Becker M, Staab D, Von BK. Long-term treatment of severe familial hypercholesterolemia in children: effect of sitosterol and bezafibrate. Pediatrics 1992 Jan; 89 (1): 138-42
- Amundsen AL, Ntanios F, Put N, et al. Long-term compliance and changes in plasma lipids, plant sterols and carotenoids in children and parents with FH consuming plant sterol ester-enriched spread. Eur J Clin Nutr 2004 Dec; 58 (12): 1612-20
- McCrindle BW, O'Neill MB, Cullen-Dean G, et al. Acceptability and compliance with two forms of cholestyramine in the treatment of hypercholesterolemia in children: a randomized, crossover trial. J Pediatr 1997 Feb; 130 (2): 266-73
- Wheeler KA, West RJ, Lloyd JK, et al. Double blind trial of bezafibrate in familial hypercholesterolaemia. Arch Dis Child 1985 Jan; 60 (1): 34-7
- Stein EA. Treatment of familial hypercholesterolemia with drugs in children. Arteriosclerosis 1989 Jan; 9 (1 Suppl.): I145-51
- Manghat P, Wierzbicki AS. Colesevelam: a specifically engineered bile acid sequestrant. Future Lipidology 2008; 3 (3): 237-55
- Gagne C, Gaudet D, Bruckert E. Efficacy and safety of ezetimibe coadministered with atorvastatin or simvastatin in patients with homozygous familial hypercholesterolemia. Circulation 2002 May 28; 105 (21): 2469-75
- Avis HJ, Vissers MN, Stein EA, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of statin therapy in children with famil-

- ial hypercholesterolemia. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2007 Aug; 27 (8): 1803-10
- 84. Arambepola C, Farmer AJ, Perera R, et al. Statin treatment for children and adolescents with heterozygous familial hypercholesterolaemia: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Atherosclerosis 2007 Dec; 195 (2): 339-47
- 85. Kwiterovich Jr PO. Safety and efficacy of treatment of children and adolescents with elevated low density lipoprotein levels with a step two diet or with lovastatin. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2001 Oct; 11 Suppl. 5: 30-4
- de Jongh S, Ose L, Szamosi T, et al. Efficacy and safety of statin therapy in children with familial hypercholesterolemia: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial with simvastatin. Circulation 2002 Oct 22; 106 (17): 2231-7
- McCrindle BW, Ose L, Marais AD. Efficacy and safety of atorvastatin in children and adolescents with familial hypercholesterolemia or severe hyperlipidemia: a multicenter, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. J Pediatr 2003 Jul; 143 (1): 74-80
- Avis HJ, Hutten BA, Gagne C, et al. Efficacy and safety of rosuvastatin therapy for children with familial hypercholesterolemia: results from the PLUTO study [abstract]. J Am Coll Cardiol 2009; 53 Suppl. A: A208
- Koeijvoets KC, Rodenburg J, Hutten BA, et al. Low-density lipoprotein receptor genotype and response to pravastatin in children with familial hypercholesterolemia: substudy of an intima-media thickness trial. Circulation 2005 Nov 15; 112 (20): 3168-73
- Marais AD, Blom DJ, Firth JC. Statins in homozygous familial hypercholesterolemia. Curr Atheroscler Rep 2002 Jan; 4 (1): 19-25
- Zema MJ. Colesevelam HCl and ezetimibe combination therapy provides effective lipid-lowering in difficultto-treat patients with hypercholesterolemia. Am J Ther 2005 Jul; 12 (4): 306-10
- 92. Dixon WG, Watson KD, Lunt M, et al. Reduction in the incidence of myocardial infarction in patients with rheumatoid arthritis who respond to anti-tumor necrosis factor alpha therapy: results from the British Society for Rheumatology Biologics Register. Arthritis Rheum 2007 Sep; 56 (9): 2905-12
- McCarey DW, McInnes IB, Madhok R, et al. Trial of Atorvastatin in Rheumatoid Arthritis (TARA): doubleblind, randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2004 Jun 19; 363 (9426): 2015-21
- Liberman JN, Berger JE, Lewis M. Prevalence of antihypertensive, antidiabetic, and dyslipidemic prescription medication use among children and adolescents. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2009 Apr; 163 (4): 357-64

Correspondence: Dr *Anthony S. Wierzbicki*, Consultant Metabolic Physician and Chemical Pathologist, Guy's and St Thomas' Hospitals, Lambeth Palace Road, London SE1 7EH, UK.

E-mail: Anthony.Wierzbicki@kcl.ac.uk